IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

---

NO. 21-1068

(Grievance Commission Docket No. 910)

---

IOWA SUPREME COURT ATTORNEY DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Complainant-Appellee,

vs.

JOHN KARL FISCHER,

Respondent-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE GRIEVANCE COMMISSION, 630<sup>th</sup> DIVISION

BRIAN J. WILLIAMS, PRESIDENT

---

**RESPONDENT-APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF  
AND REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

---

By:  /s/Melissa Ament

Eashaan Vajpeyi AT00011094

Melissa Ament AT0014547

3324 Kimball Avenue

P.O. Box 2696

Waterloo, IA 50704-2696

(319)234-2638

(319) 234-2237 fax

[evajpeyi@ballkirkholm.com](mailto:evajpeyi@ballkirkholm.com)

[mament@ballkirkholm.com](mailto:mament@ballkirkholm.com)

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- I. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN CONCLUDING MR. FISCHER'S CONDUCT IN THE ALPHAGEN MATTER WAS PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Noel*, 933 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa 2019) (*Noel II*).

- II. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN CONCLUDING MR. FISCHER VIOLATED RULE 32:1.15(c) IN THE R.B. HOMES MATTER

- A. Mr. Fischer's conduct in handling funds received in the R.B. Homes matter was in accordance with Rule 32:1.15(c).

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:1.15(c).

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Morris*, 847 N.W.2d 428 (Iowa 2014).

i. *Funds for Payment of R.B. Homes Settlement*

ii. *Funds for Payment of Attorney Fees*

- B. Mr. Fischer did not misappropriate funds received in the R.B. Homes matter and had a colorable future claim to said funds as attorney fees.

i. *Misappropriation of Funds*

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:8.4(b).

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Guthrie*, 901 N.W.2d 493 (Iowa 2017).

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Thomas*, 844 N.W.2d 111 (Iowa 2014).

Iowa Code § 714.1(2) (2011).

ii. *Colorable Future Claim*

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Carter*, 847 N.W.2d 228 (Iowa 2014).

iii. *Misconduct and Adverse Reflection on Mr. Fischer*

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:8.4(b).

Iowa R. Prof'l Conduct 32:8.4(c).

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Green*, 888 N.W.2d 398 (Iowa 2016).

III. THE COMMISSION DID NOT RECOMMEND THE PROPER SANCTION FOR MR. FISCHER'S VIOLATION OF TRUST ACCOUNT RULES

IV. THE SANCTION RECOMMENDED BY THE COMMISSION IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AND THE COMMISSION FAILED TO CONSIDER ALL RELEVANT FACTORS

*Iowa Supreme Court Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Guthrie*, 901 N.W.2d 493 (Iowa 2017).

*Iowa Supreme Court Bd. of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. D'Angelo*, 619 N.W.2d 333 (Iowa 2000).

A. The Commission failed to give equal consideration to aggravating and mitigating factors.

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Kingery*, 871 N.W.2d 109 (Iowa 2015).

i. *Military Service and Personal Health*

ii. *Lack of Client Harm*

iii. *Proactive Trust Account Measures*

iv. *Accepting Responsibility for Rule Violations*



- B. The Commission considered unproven violations in making a sanction recommendation.
- C. Prior attorney discipline cases guide the proper sanction of Mr. Fisher.

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Hedgecoth*, 862 N.W.2d 354 (Iowa 2015).

*Iowa Supreme Court Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Noel*, 933 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa 2019) (“*Noel II*”).

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Parrish*, 801 N.W.2d 580 (Iowa 2011).

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Kersenbrock*, 821 N.W.2d 415 (Iowa 2012).

*Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Boles*, 808 N.W.2d 431 (Iowa 2012).

## V. REQUESTED RELIEF

## **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to Grievance Commission Rule 36.22(1) this appeal is taken directly to the Iowa Supreme Court.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **Nature of the Case**

The Iowa Supreme Court Disciplinary Board (“Board”) filed a Complaint alleging unprofessional conduct by Respondent-Appellant John Karl Fischer on June 5, 2020. Mr. Fischer filed a Response to Complaint on June 25, 2020. The Board filed a Motion to Strike Answer on July 8, 2020 asserting the Response to Complaint did not comply with the Iowa Rules of Civil Procedure. Mr. Fischer filed an Amended Answer of Respondent on July 17, 2020. On September 23, 2020, the Board filed a Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint and Amended Complaint. Mr. Fischer obtained counsel and filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint on October 13, 2020. On March 16, 2021, the Board filed a Second Motion for Leave to Amend Complaint and Second Amended Complaint, removing certain allegations and Count II from its Amended Complaint.

The matter came on for a two-day hearing before the 630<sup>th</sup> Division of the Grievance Commission (“the Commission”) of the Supreme Court of Iowa on April 5 and 6, 2021. Both the Board and Mr. Fischer submitted Post Trial Briefs. On August 2, 2021, the Commission found the Respondent-

Appellant had violated the Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct in regards to three separate matters. AlphaGen Matter: 32:3.2, 32:3.4(c), 32:3.4(d), and 32:8.4(d). R.B. Homes Matter: 32:1.4(a)(3), 32:1.15(c), 32:8.4(b), and 32:8.4(c). Trust Account: 32:1.15(a), 32:1.15(c), 32:1.15(f); Iowa Court Rule 45.2(3)(a)(9); Iowa Court Rule 45.7(3), 32:5.3(a), 32:5.3(c)(2), and 32:8.4(c).

In its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommended Sanctions, the Commission recommended that Mr. Fischer's license to practice law be revoked. A Bill of Costs was filed by the Clerk of the Grievance Commission on August 2, 2021, in the total amount of \$2,209.25.

Notice of Appeal was filed with the Clerk of the Grievance Commission on August 6, 2021. Notice of Appeal was filed with the Clerk of the Iowa Supreme Court on August 9, 2021.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

This appeal concerns three separate matters: the AlphaGen matter, the R.B. Homes matter, and Mr. Fischer's Trust Account. The Findings of Fact of the Commission as stated in Count I: AlphaGen Litigation, Count II: Trust Account, and Count IV: Osborn Matter of the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommended Sanctions are adopted by the Respondent-Appellant. (App. pp. 643-646).

## **SCOPE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The Iowa Supreme Court reviews attorney disciplinary cases *de novo*. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Board v. Pederson*, 887 N.W.2d 387, 391 (Iowa 2016); Iowa Ct. R. 36.21(1). The Board must prove attorney misconduct by a convincing preponderance of the evidence. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Board v. Khowassah*, 890 N.W.2d 647, 650 (Iowa 2017). The findings of the Grievance Commission are respected by the court but not binding. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Board v. Wheeler*, 824 N.W.2d 505, 509 (Iowa 2012). The Supreme Court may impose a greater or lesser sanction than recommended by the Grievance Commission. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att’y Disciplinary Board v. Said*, 869 N.W.2d 185, 190 (Iowa 2015).

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN CONCLUDING MR. FISCHER'S CONDUCT IN THE ALPHAGEN MATTER WAS PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE

The Board argued Mr. Fisher's actions in the AlphaGen matter were prejudicial to the administration of justice in violation of Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:8.4(d). There is no typical form of conduct that prejudices the administration of justice. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Noel*, 933 N.W.2d 190, 204 (Iowa 2019) ("*Noel II*"). Conduct by an attorney that results in additional court proceedings or causes court proceedings to be delay or dismissed is prejudicial to the administration of justice in violation of Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:8.4(d). *Id.* The focus for determining violations of Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:8.4(d) is on the conduct *of the attorney* in causing delays or additional proceedings. In this case, it was not the conduct of Mr. Fischer that resulted in delays in responding to discovery requests and court orders to provide discovery responses, it was the conduct of Matt Merchant, the President and director of AlphaGen.

The Commission accepted the facts as alleged by the Board in its summary of events in Section II(a)(i) of the Board's Post-Trial Brief. (App. p. 134). The Board's summary of events in the AlphaGen Litigation

provides an accurate summary of the procedural history of in the AlphaGen matter but fails to discuss the fact that Mr. Fischer was dealing with an uncooperative client who refused to provide the necessary information to comply with discovery despite repeated assurances to Mr. Fischer that such information would be provided.

The Board's summary of events criticizes Mr. Fischer for not telling opposing counsel or the court that he did not have access to the discovery documents and could not obtain them. The Board also criticizes Mr. Fischer for telling Dan Kresowik, counsel for plaintiff in the AlphaGen matter, that discovery responses would be provided in the future. (App. p. 142). The Board implies that Mr. Fischer was disingenuous in this promise. However, Mr. Fischer's actions were not bred of dishonesty. Instead, Mr. Fischer did not claim to not have access to the documents because he did not believe that to be the case. Indeed, Mr. Fischer believed he could obtain them, in due time, from his client Mr. Merchant. While Mr. Fischer was later proven wrong in this belief, he did, in fact, believe his client would eventually cooperate. Mr. Merchant responded to Mr. Fischer's multiple requests to provide the documents with assurances that the documents would be provided. (App. pp. 302-304). The Board faults Mr. Fischer for believing his client, Mr. Merchant, when his client assured him the documents would be

provided. It was on this basis that Mr. Fischer made his own assurances to Mr. Kresowik regarding the discovery responses. (App. pp. 302-306). It would not have been proper or truthful for Mr. Fischer to assert he did not have access to the documents and could not obtain them when the communications he was receiving from his client was that the requested documents would be provided. When Mr. Fischer assured Mr. Kresowik that the documents would be provided, Mr. Fischer was acting on a good faith belief that the information was forthcoming from Mr. Merchant. (App. pp. 304-305). Such conduct by Mr. Fischer was proper and not prejudicial to the administration of justice.

The Commission concluded, “[t]here is no question that the Respondent ignored deadlines resulting in multiple court orders in both cases.” (App. p. 648). This statement by the Commission is unsupported by the record. Mr. Fischer admits that he failed to provide complete and timely discovery responses in the AlphaGen matter. (App. p. 266) At no point during the Grievance Hearing on April 5 and 6, 2021 did Mr. Fischer testify to that he ignored deadlines nor was such evidence produced. It is undisputed that deadlines were missed in the AlphaGen matter, but the reason for those missed deadlines was not ignorance or willful disregard by Mr. Fischer. Mr. Fischer testified:

Q. Did you ever have enough information to answer the discovery, but then you decided to intentionally withhold that information from plaintiffs?

A. No.

Q. Did you ever intentionally claim to Dan Kresowik that, hey, the information's not there, but it really was in your possession?

A. No.

Q. Was the discovery incomplete because you had the materials, but you just didn't feel like answering the discovery?

A. No. I was obligated to provide it -- the best answer I could give them based upon the material that he provided.

Q. Was the failure to give discovery responses to the plaintiff any attempt by you, as an attorney, to frustrate the plaintiff's right to recovery?

A. No. You know, they –

(App. pp. 304-305). As evidenced by Mr. Fischer's testimony, Mr. Fischer's conduct was what we would expect of an attorney – he did not intentionally withhold discovery, he did not make false claims regarding information in his possession, he did not willfully fail to provide documents in his possession, and he had no intention to frustrate the plaintiff's right to recovery.



Mr. Fischer testified to the difficulty he had working with Matt Merchant of AlphaGen in obtaining discovery documents. Mr. Fischer did not have personal knowledge or possession of the information and documents responsive to the discovery requests (App. pp. 301-302); he had to rely on Mr. Merchant to provide responsive information and documents. Mr. Fischer made multiple requests for Mr. Merchant to provide the necessary information, and Mr. Merchant repeatedly assured Mr. Fischer he would provide the necessary information. (App. p. 302). The Commission concluded in their Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Recommended Sanctions that “[t]here was no testimony that Respondent was at the mercy of Matt Merchant’s actions.” (App. p. 641). This is a mischaracterization of Mr. Fischer’s testimony. As related to the order for a more specific answer, Mr. Fischer testified:

Q. And again, did you have the information yourself to provide that more specific answer?

A. No.

Q. Who did?

A. Merchant.

Q. Did you talk to him at all about the need for more information to properly answer the petition?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you identify to him what information you needed?

A. Yes.

Q. Did he provide you that information?

A. To a degree.

Q. And when you say "to a degree," give us some context as to generally how your conversations would go with him when you said -- when you requested additional information for this case.

A. He said, I'll get you that information, and then he never would provide it.

(App. 302). Mr. Fischer further testified regarding obtaining discovery information from Mr. Merchant:

Q. Did that pattern of you asking for information and him [Merchant] not providing the information, as you just described, or not providing it, as you just described, did that continue --

A. Ahh

Q. -- through the course of the litigation when discovery was propounded.

A. Ahh. Yes. I mean, it was a problem compounded by them trying to ask for everything, a prototypical fishing exhibition -- or fishing exhibit -- group trip, and so -- their requests were overexpansive, and then his requests were almost nonexistent, and then --

(App. pp. 303-304). This is two instances of clear testimony by Mr. Fischer that he was at the mercy of Matt Merchant's actions, or inaction, that resulted in missed deadlines.

The conduct of Mr. Fischer in the AlphaGen matter was not prejudicial to the administration of justice. Mr. Fischer admits that he failed to provide complete discovery in the AlphaGen matter. (App. pp. 266-267) and there was a delay in court proceedings. (App. p. 267). However, this was not the direct result of conduct by Mr. Fischer. Mr. Fischer made every effort to comply with discovery requests and court orders to provide discovery responses. (App. pp. 304-305). Mr. Fischer had to rely on Mr. Merchant to provide responsive information and documents. Mr. Fischer made multiple requests for Mr. Merchant to provide the necessary information, and Mr. Merchant repeatedly assured Mr. Fischer he would provide the necessary information. (App. pp. 302-304). Based on these assurances, Mr. Fischer provided his own assurances to Mr. Kresowik that discovery responses would be provided. (App. pp. 302-306). When making those assurance, Mr. Fischer had full and honest belief that the discovery responses would be forthcoming, based on the assurance he had received from Mr. Merchant. (App. p. 307). In his requests for extension to provide discovery responses, Mr. Fischer was acting on a good faith belief that the

information to provide complete discovery responses was forthcoming from Mr. Merchant. (App. pp. 305-307).

When Mr. Merchant failed to provide complete information, Mr. Fischer provided incomplete discovery responses; however, Mr. Fischer provided all responsive information in his possession and received from Mr. Merchant. While these responses were incomplete, the alternative was for Mr. Fischer to withdraw and leave the plaintiffs to seek discovery from an uncooperative pro se defendant. The outcome would not have changed if Mr. Fischer had withdrawn and had that been the case it is likely less information would have been provided by Mr. Merchant in discovery due to Mr. Merchant's clear lack of cooperation in the discovery process.

Mr. Fischer does not dispute that his conduct in the AlphaGen matter violated Iowa Rules of Professional Conduct 32:3.2, 32:3.4(c), and 32:3.4(d). However, he does dispute the proper sanction. See *infra* Section IV. He acknowledges that he failed to provide complete discovery responses despite multiple court orders. (App. p. 266). However, his conduct in this regard does not rise to the level of conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice in violation of Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:8.4(d). The Commission erred in concluding the Board proved Mr. Fischer violated Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:8.4(d). Therefore, the Court should

not consider a violation of 32:8.4(d) when determining the appropriate sanction for Mr. Fischer related to the AlphaGen matter.

II. THE COMMISSION ERRED IN CONCLUDING MR. FISCHER VIOLATED RULE 32:1.15(c) IN THE R.B. HOMES MATTER

A. Mr. Fischer's conduct in handling funds received in the R.B. Homes matter was in accordance with Rule 32:1.15(c).

The Board charged Mr. Fischer with violation of Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:1.15(c) for his handling of funds received from Josh Osborn in the R.B. Homes matter. This charge is unsupported and the Commission erred in concluding the Board has proven the allegation. Rule 32:1.15(c) requires an attorney to deposit legal fees and expenses paid in advance in a client trust account and to withdraw such funds only as fees are earned or expenses incurred. (Iowa R. of Prof'l Conduct 32:1.15(c); *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Morris*, 847 N.W.2d 428, 434 (Iowa 2014)). Mr. Fischer's conduct was in accordance with this rule.

Mr. Fischer represented the entity of R.B. Homes in litigation alleging unworkmanlike construction by R.B. Homes. (App. pp. 216, 292). Joshua Osborn and James Osborn were co-owners of R.B. Homes. (App. pp. 215-216). Joshua Osborn was the president of R.B. Homes and was the individual listed with the Secretary of State to receive information on behalf of R.B. Homes (App. pp. 288-289). Joshua and James Osborn directed Mr.

Fischer to send all correspondence and billings concerning the R.B. Homes matter solely to Joshua Osborn. (App. p. 289). As co-owners, Joshua and James Osborn were jointly and severally liable for payment of the settlement and associated legal fees incurred by R.B. Homes. Mr. Fischer acted with this understanding in his handling of funds received in the R.B. Homes matter.

*i. Funds for Payment of R.B. Homes Settlement*

Mr. Fischer received a check from Joshua Osborn in the amount of \$9,200 to pay for legal fees and to put towards the settlement of litigation in which R.B. Homes was the defendant. (App. p. 219). Mr. Fischer deposited the full amount of \$9,200 in his client trust account. Mr. Fischer sent a check from his trust account to Traveler's Insurance Company in the amount of \$6,168 for partial settlement of the R.B. Homes matter (App. p. 240) and the remainder of the \$9,200 was used for payment of attorney fees. (App. p. 219). The deposit of client funds into Mr. Fischer's client trust account and withdraw of said funds pay a client's settlement was the proper procedure for handling client funds.

The Commission mischaracterizes this sequence of events as Mr. Fischer "took over \$6,000 from his trust account that belonged to Josh Osborn." (App. p. 649). The Commission is correct that \$6,168 was

removed from Mr. Fischer's client trust account, but the Commission fails to recognize that these funds were provided to Mr. Fischer by Joshua Osborn for the purposes of paying the settlement for R.B. Homes and this is the purpose for which Mr. Fischer issued a check to Traveler's Insurance Company. There was confusion regarding whether Traveler's had cashed the check – an action Mr. Fischer had repeatedly requested be completed (App. p. 282) – but this confusion does not make Mr. Fischer's issuance of a check for the purpose intended by the client improper handling of client funds.

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