In the Supreme Court of Iowa

Supreme Court No. 21-1068 Grievance Commission No. 910

Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board,

Appellee,

VS.

John Karl Fischer,

Appellant

Appeal from the Report of the Iowa Supreme Court Grievance Commission

Appellee's Final Brief

Alexis W. Grove, AT0013501 Crystal W. Rink, AT0010107 Iowa Judicial Branch Building 1111 East Court Avenue Des Moines, IA 50319-5003 Telephone: (515) 348-4680 Fax: (515) 348-4699 alexis.grove@iowacourts.gov crystal.rink@iowacourts.gov

Attorneys for Appellee

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

ARGUMENT

Error Preservation

The Board agrees Fischer preserved the issues presented for appellate review.

Scope and Standard of Appellate Review

The Board agrees with Fischer that the scope and standard of appellate review is de novo. *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Watkins*, 944 N.W.2d 881, 884 (Iowa 2020).

I. THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY DETERMINED FISCHER'S CONDUCT IN THE ALPHAGEN MATTER WAS PREJUDICIAL TO THE ADMINISTRATION OF JUSTICE.

Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:8.4(d) states, "It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice." This Court has repeatedly found that "an attorney violates rule 32:8.4(d) when the misconduct results in additional court proceedings or causes court proceedings to be delayed or dismissed." *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Noel*, 933 N.W.2d 190, 204 (Iowa 2019) (quoting *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary* Bd. v. Vandel, 889 N.W.2d 659, 666 (Iowa 2017)). Fischer's "neglectful and untimely handling of discovery matters resulted in additional court proceedings and caused other court proceedings to be delayed." See id. Fischer's conduct caused opposing counsel to file multiple motions to compel, motions to show cause/hold in contempt, and motions for sanctions; these in turn caused the court to spend time reviewing the file and holding hearings on those motions. (App. 365–66, 408, 421–24, 436– 41, 471–75, 477–79, 481–82, 484–91, 493–509, 526–32). Fischer's "conduct interfered with the operation of the court system" by causing five additional hearings. *See Noel*, 933 N.W.2d at 204 (noting that the attorney's conduct interfered by causing *three* additional hearings). Fischer's conduct necessitated a continuance of the trial. (App. 266 (Tr. 281:8–14), 490).

Fischer argues that he was not the one responsible for the numerous delays, costs, and additional court proceedings, so he could not violate rule 32:8.4(d).² This is false and inconsistent with the record.

Fischer portrays his continued implicit refusal to comply with discovery orders as "proper and not prejudicial to the administration of justice" because he "believ[ed] his client" when he told him discovery

² Although Fischer denies now that his conduct in relation to the AlphaGen matter was prejudicial to the administration of justice, Fischer admitted as much both in his Amended Answer and at the hearing. (App. 39, 267 (Tr. 282:16–20)). "Admissions may be relied upon to meet the evidentiary burden of the Board." *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Alexander*, 727 N.W.2d 120, 122 (Iowa 2007).

responses were forthcoming. This does not explain why Fischer did not at any point during the AlphaGen litigation tell anyone—not even opposing counsel—that the delayed discovery responses were because his client had not provided them. (App. 211-12 (Tr. 52:22-53:16)). Fischer never asked opposing counsel or the court for extensions of deadlines to allow his client time to respond to discovery. (App. 455). Despite the numerous communications from opposing counsel requesting the information and noting missed deadlines, Fischer never told opposing counsel that he simply could not provide the information because he did not have it yet. In spite of the wasted judicial resources in delayed hearings and additional proceedings, Fischer never indicated to the court that the only reason the information had not been provided to opposing counsel was because his client had not provided it. It was only when Fischer faced professional discipline for this conduct that he claimed his client withheld this information.

Fischer did *nothing* in litigation that might indicate the discovery issues stemmed from his client's failure to provide information. When asked at the hearing why Fischer had not simply told the court that his client was being difficult and that was why he could not turn over discovery responses, Fischer merely stated that since he was not a trial

lawyer, he did not know why he did not do it. (App. 318–19 (Tr. 399:19–400:6)). Fischer then admitted, "It's my fault. I did it because I didn't know what else to do and -- Yes, it's my fault. It's nobody else's. I knew better." (App. 319 (Tr. 400:13–16)). Fischer filed no motions to indicate this problem and made no mention at any of the hearings about his client's failure to provide discovery responses.

Furthermore, the record indicates that Fischer did have access to the information sought in discovery. When the case was originally filed against AlphaGen in 2012 and throughout the pendency of the entire case, Fischer was a director of AlphaGen. (App. 259 (Tr. 265:3–9), 260 (Tr. 266:7–10)). In addition to being a director and attorney for AlphaGen, Fischer was also a shareholder, vice president, secretary, and treasurer of AlphaGen. (App. 259 (Tr. 265:10–13, 29–20), 261 (Tr. 267:7–12)). It is disingenuous for Fischer to argue that, despite wearing all of these hats for AlphaGen, he had no means of accessing the information sought in discovery.

Additionally, Fischer failed to comply with court orders to provide discovery responses even in his individual capacity. In the second AlphaGen case filed in March 2015, Fischer was both a defendant and the attorney for the Defendants. (App. 456–61, 470). Fischer failed to

respond to discovery requests in his individual capacity, as well as the requests on behalf of his client, resulting in multiple motions by plaintiff's counsel, hearings, and court orders. (App. 471–510). Even after the court entered default judgment against the Defendants based upon their failure to comply with discovery orders, Fischer still did not comply. After opposing counsel filed motions for debtors' examinations against the Defendants, including Fischer, the Defendants did not produce the documents requested. (App. 511–32). Fischer's client had nothing to do with his failure to provide his own discovery responses.

Fischer's tactic of blaming his client for his lack of communication with the court and opposing counsel, disregard of court orders, and failure to provide discovery does not excuse Fischer's behavior. Fischer's conduct was prejudicial to the administration of justice. In *Iowa Supreme Court Board of Professional Ethics & Conduct v. Waples*, the attorney took a similar tack to Fischer's; he blamed his legal assistant and his client for his failure to file the required affidavits in a custody matter. 677 N.W.2d 740, 742–43 (Iowa 2004). The court was unpersuaded and found that the fault lay not with the client but with the attorney's "mishandling of the case," and the attorney's conduct was found to be prejudicial to the administration of justice. *Id.* at 743. Fischer likewise cannot blame his

client for his own misconduct. See id.; see also Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Barnhill, 885 N.W.2d 408, 423 (Iowa 2016) (finding "unavailing" the attorney's argument that her failure to comply with discovery order was due to the uncooperativeness of her client where the record revealed she had access to the documents to be produced); *Iowa* Supreme Ct. Bd. of Prof'l Ethics & Conduct v. Fleming, 602 N.W.2d 340, 342 (Iowa 1999) (finding the attorney's conduct was prejudicial to the administration of justice because "[a]lthough Fleming attempt[ed] to shift the blame for his neglect to the corporate executor, the record makes clear that he permitted several important deadlines to pass without any action whatsoever"); cf. Comm. on Prof'l Ethics & Conduct of the Iowa State Bar Ass'n v. Belay, 420 N.W.2d 783, 784 (Iowa 1988) (finding the attorney's conduct was prejudicial to the administration of justice and rejecting the attorney's argument that his failure to file a tax return did not amount to a violation because his employer was "partly to blame for failure to furnish adequate income data" for him to compute his tax liability because the attorney knew of the filing deadlines and of his own failure to comply with them).

The Commission correctly found that the Board proved by a convincing preponderance of the evidence that Fischer violated rule 32:8.4(d) in the AlphaGen matter.

- II. THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY FOUND FISCHER VIOLATED RULES 32:1.15(c), 8.4(b), AND 8.4(c) IN THE RB HOMES MATTER.
 - A. Fischer Violated Rule 32:1.15(c) When He Withdrew Unearned Fees from the Osborn/RB Homes Account.

Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:1.15(c) states, "A lawyer shall deposit into a client trust account legal fees and expenses that have been paid in advance, to be withdrawn by the lawyer only as fees are earned or expenses incurred." An attorney violates this rule "by withdrawing fees and expenses before they [are] earned." *Iowa Supreme* Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Cross, 861 N.W.2d 211, 219–20 (Iowa 2015). In Iowa Supreme Court Attorney Disciplinary Board v. Earley, the court found that the attorney had violated rule 32:1.15(c) when he withdrew unearned fees from his trust account. 933 N.W.2d 206, 213 (Iowa 2019). Similarly, Fischer admitted at the hearing that he withdrew \$6168 from his client trust account belonging to Josh Osborn when the check was not cashed by Travelers. (App. 287 (Tr. 333:7-19), 321-22 (Tr. 402:25-403:7)). Fischer admitted that he had not earned these fees. (App. 287)

(Tr. 333:7–19), 321–22 (Tr. 402:25–403:7)). This was a violation of rule 32:1.15(c). *See Earley*, 933 N.W.2d at 213; *see also Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Weiland*, 885 N.W.2d 198, 206 (Iowa 2016) (noting that "[p]rematurely withdrawing fees violates rule 32:1.15(c)"). Although Fischer attempts to muddle the issue of whether he withdrew unearned fees from his trust account, the violation is clear.

Fischer claims that "[t]here was confusion regarding whether Traveler's (sic) had cashed the check." That is patently false. There is no confusion about this. The record is unambiguous that Travelers had not cashed the check and counsel for Travelers had explicitly told Fischer that the check would not be cashed. (App. 241–42 (Tr. 164:19–165:6), 244–45 (Tr. 169:24–170:2), 601, 612–13).

Regardless, whether Fischer was initially "confused" about the status of the check is irrelevant. Fischer admitted at the hearing that he withdrew \$6168 belonging to Josh Osborn from his CTA when the check was not cashed by Travelers. (App. 287 (Tr. 333:7–19), 321–22 (Tr. 402:25–403:7). Fischer admitted that he had not earned these fees. (App. 287 (Tr. 333:7–19), 321–22 (Tr. 402:25–403:7)).

Even if Fischer's withdrawal of \$6168 that he had not earned was somehow based upon a confusion, this still does not justify or excuse his

violation of this rule. Fischer's CTA had been audited by the Client Security Commission. (App. 542). During that audit, auditor Brinkmeyer and trainee Paul Gilbert—based upon Fischer's input and records he provided—compiled a list of all of Fischer's clients with balances remaining in Fischer's CTA. (App. 238 (Tr. 132:1–19), 548–49). Neither Josh Osborn nor RB Homes was among the clients with a balance in the CTA. (App. 238 (Tr. 132:20–24), 548–49). The audit made it very clear that Josh's funds were not in the CTA. When Bardole filed the Motion to Enforce Settlement in 2016, Fischer was put on explicit notice that Travelers had not cashed the check and the funds therefore should still have been sitting in his CTA. At that point, Fischer knew both that Travelers had not cashed the check and that the funds were not in his trust account. As the sole signatory to his trust account and a solo practitioner, the only party who could have withdrawn those funds was Fischer himself. (App. 331–32 (Tr. 417:18–418:2)). Thus Fischer was fully aware in 2016 that the check had not been cashed and the funds were not in his trust account, and he did nothing. Fischer did not reimburse his trust account. If Fischer's taking of the funds had indeed somehow been an honest mistake, as soon as he was informed in 2016 that the check had not been cashed, he would have reimbursed his trust account and informed his clients about the litigation. He did neither. Instead, Fischer did not reimburse his trust account and did not tell the Osborns about the motions filed by opposing counsel or the hearing that took place.

Fischer violated Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:1.15(c) when he withdrew \$6168 of Josh's settlement funds from his CTA, as that money was neither earned fees nor incurred expenses. (App. 321–22 (Tr. 402:25–403:7)). The Commission correctly found that the Board proved by a convincing preponderance of the evidence that Fischer violated rule 32:1.15(c).

B. Fischer Violated Rules 32:8.4(b) and 8.4(c) When He Misappropriated Funds Without a Colorable Future Claim.

Iowa Rule of Professional Conduct 32:8.4(b) states, "A lawyer shall not commit a criminal act that reflects adversely on the lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness, or fitness as a lawyer in other respects." This Court has found that "[a] lawyer who commits a theft of funds engages in conduct involving moral turpitude, dishonesty, and conduct that adversely reflects on the lawyer's fitness to practice law." *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Kozlik*, 943 N.W.2d 589, 595 (Iowa 2020) (citations omitted). "A lawyer need not be charged or convicted of a crime in order

to be found in violation of this rule." *Id.* (quoting *Cross*, 861 N.W.2d at 222). Pursuant to Iowa Code section 714.1(2) (2020), "[a] person commits theft when the person ... [m]isappropriates property which the person has in trust ... by using it or disposing of it in a manner which is inconsistent with or a denial of the trust or of the owner's rights in such property."

Rule 32:8.4(c) states, "It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to engage in misconduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation." The Board must show that an attorney "acted with some level of scienter greater than negligence or incompetence" to show a violation of this rule. *Kozlik*, 943 N.W.2d at 595 (citations omitted). "An attorney's 'casual, reckless disregard for the truth' ... establishes sufficient scienter to support a violation of the rule." *Id.* (quoting *Iowa Supreme Ct. Att'y Disciplinary Bd. v. Clarity*, 838 N.W.2d 648, 656 (Iowa 2013)).

This Court has stated that "misappropriation of funds is a clear violation of both rules." *Id.* (citations omitted). Thus, Fischer's misappropriation of funds in the Osborn matter is a clear violation of both rule 32:8.4(b) and 8.4(c). *See id.*

Fischer's conversion of funds is two-fold. First, Fischer converted \$1332 from Josh when he took funds from Josh's settlement payment to pay himself attorney fees owed by another client, James Osborn. Second, Fischer converted \$6168 from his CTA—funds belonging to Josh—when he withdrew the funds after Travelers did not cash the check. Fischer did not have a colorable future claim to those funds in either instance.

i. Misappropriation of \$1332

Fischer converted \$1332 of Josh's money to pay himself for attorney fees owed by James without a colorable future claim to those funds. Fischer misappropriated the funds entrusted to him by Josh by converting them to his own use, contrary to the clear directive of Josh.

Fischer seems to imply that he was entitled to take the \$1332 from Josh because RB Homes was a defendant in the case and Josh was the representative for the entity. This is untenable given the evidence presented at hearing, other testimony, and Fischer's own admissions.³ It

³ Fischer's argument also fails because Iowa Code section 490.622(2) states, "Unless otherwise provided in the articles of incorporation, a shareholder of a corporation is not personally liable for the acts or debts of the corporation." Fischer, an experienced lawyer who

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